THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-10-03326
Appellate Case No. 2017-000474

RECEIVED
DEC 29 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Ex Parte: Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company,.....

Appellant.

v.

In re: Waverly at Hamlin Plantation Townhome
Association, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

John Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods of the
Carolinas, Inc. as successor by statutory merger to John
Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods of South Carolina,
Inc., John Wieland Homes of Charleston, Inc., John
Wieland Homes, Inc., Builders Support Services of the

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err by denying Liberty Mutual's motion for limited intervention where Liberty Mutual met the applicable tests for intervention and may lack any other mechanism to adequately protect its interests?**

- II. Did the trial court err in holding that Liberty Mutual suffered no prejudice from the denial of intervention because it could bring a separate declaratory judgment action after the verdict to obtain a ruling apportioning damages, when the current version of a South Carolina Supreme Court decision suggests otherwise?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

Plaintiff Waverly at Hamlin Plantation Townhomes, Inc. (“Waverly Association”) filed this construction defect action against Defendants John Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc. as successor by statutory merger to John Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods of South Carolina, Inc.; John Wieland Homes of Charleston, Inc.; John Wieland Homes, Inc.; and Builder’s Support Services of the Carolinas, Inc. (collectively, the “Wieland Entities”) on June 6, 2013.² (Compl.; R. pp. 6-15.) The Waverly Association seeks damages related to alleged construction defects and recovery of repair costs in connection with the Waverly at Hamlin Plantation Townhomes project. (*See id.*; R. pp. 6-15.)

On April 17, 2014, the Wieland Entities filed an answer denying the allegations of the Complaint and asserting third party claims against Third-Party Defendants Barr Construction, Inc.; Benjamin Mora d/b/a Mora Construction, a/k/a Benjamin Mora Construction, LLC; Builders FirstSource, Inc., a/k/a Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC, a/k/a Builders FirstSource-Atlantic Group, LLC; DBC Construction Services, LLC; Eli, Inc.; Gerardo Rosette Sanchez a/k/a GR Painting; Jorge Medina, Jorge Medina a/k/a JMC Construction, LLC a/k/a JMC Construction, Inc.; Jesus Mora a/k/a J. Mora Brick & Block Mason, LLC; Juan Luis Sanchez, Juan Luis Sanchez a/k/a Sanchez Brothers Painting; Latitude Construction Services, LLC; The Muhler Company, Inc.; Paul M. Vasquez; and Richard Ditullio, Richard Ditullio a/k/a RDT Contracting, LLC (the “Third-Party Defendants”). (Answer & Third Party Complaint; R. pp. 16-34.)

¹ Because Liberty Mutual is not a party to the underlying action and this appeal relates to a narrow procedural issue, only the background germane to this appeal is detailed herein.

² The Complaint also named Wheelock Street Capital, LLC d/b/a John Wieland Homes and Neighborhoods, Inc. as a Defendant.

Liberty Mutual issued twelve policies of insurance to the Wieland Entities over the course of twelve years, with coverage beginning on January 1, 2001 and continuing until March 15, 2013 (collectively, “the Liberty Policies”). (See Order at 2; Mot. to Intervene at 3; R. pp. 2, 60.) After the Waverly Association filed this suit, the Wieland Entities claimed status as an insured under the Liberty Policies and claimed that the duties to defend and indemnify were triggered by the suit. (See Mot. to Intervene at 3; R. p. 60.) Liberty Mutual then assumed the defense on behalf of the Wieland Entities under a reservation of rights. (Order at 2; R. p. 2.)

The matter proceeded through discovery and motions practice. On January 19, 2017, when it became evident that the action would likely proceed to trial, Liberty Mutual moved to intervene in order to protect its rights to obtain an allocation of the verdict between covered and non-covered claims. (See Mot. to Intervene at 2, 4; Transcript of Hearing on Mot. to Intervene (“Tr.”) at 4:1-5:10-2; R. pp. 38-39, 59, 61.) Liberty Mutual explained in the motion its reading of the Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Harleysville Group Insurance v. Heritage Communities, Inc.*, Opinion No. 27698 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan. 11, 2017) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 2 at 21-54) (“*Harleysville*” or “Opinion No. 27698”), in which the Supreme Court appeared to indicate that insurance carriers have a duty to attempt to intervene in liability actions where they are defending under a reservation of rights in order to submit special interrogatories or a special verdict form in the liability action, which in turn could assist in allocation between covered and non-covered damages.³ (See Mot. to Intervene at 2, 4; Tr. at 4:1-5:10-2; R. pp. 38-39, 59, 61.)

The trial court denied Liberty Mutual’s motion via Order dated February 6, 2017. (See Order; R. pp. 1-5.) The trial found that Liberty Mutual was not entitled to either intervention as

³ Typically this means whether damages suffered by the insured are truly “property damage” as defined and understood by the policy and interpretive law.

of right under Rule 24(a) or permissive intervention under Rule 24(b). (*Id.* at pp. 2-3; R. pp. 2-3.) Specifically, the trial court concluded that the insurer’s interest in obtaining such an allocation “is probably not ripe until such time, if ever,” that a verdict against the insured is returned. (*Id.* at p. 3; R. p. 3.) The trial court stated that *Harleysville* “cannot fairly be read to direct or approve” such a motion and “does not authorize” intervention because allowing intervention by the insurer “would seem to create an impermissible conflict of interest in violation of established South Carolina law” and would create an “unacceptably high” risk of jury confusion. (*Id.* at pp. 3-4; R. pp. 3-4.) The trial court concluded that there was no prejudice to the insurer in denying intervention because the allocation issue would not be ripe until after a verdict is rendered and the insurer could bring “a declaratory judgment action after the verdict for the purpose of obtaining a ruling that apportions damages.” (*Id.* at p. 4; R. p. 4.)

Liberty Mutual timely filed a Notice of Appeal of the Order denying intervention on February 21, 2017.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The decision to grant or deny a motion to . . . intervene in an action pursuant to Rule 24, SCRPC, lies within the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Ex Parte Gov’t Emps. Ins. Co.*, 373 S.C. 132, 135, 644 S.E.2d 699, 701 (2007).

ARGUMENT

As set forth below, the *Harleysville* decision created uncertainty regarding an insurer’s ability to protect its right to obtain an allocation between covered and non-covered damages in a liability action against its insureds. *Harleysville* suggests that an insurer should move to intervene in the liability action to protect its rights, but gives no guidance on how an insurer may vindicate its rights if the trial court refuses to permit intervention (or if the permitted intervention fails to

fairly determine allocation between covered and non-covered damages). Here, Liberty Mutual moved to intervene in an attempt to comply with this directive, but the trial court refused to allow intervention. Accordingly, Liberty Mutual comes to this Court requesting review and reversal of the trial court order, and clarity on how it may protect its right to ensure that it is not forced to pay damages not covered by the applicable policies.

As an initial matter, Liberty Mutual agrees with the rehearing arguments and positions of the Petitioner and supporting *amici* in the *Harleysville* case currently pending before the South Carolina Supreme Court. One of the arguments advanced by the Petitioner in the rehearing briefing is that the Supreme Court should grant rehearing and permit allocation of an underlying general verdict between covered and non-covered damages in declaratory judgment proceedings. Liberty Mutual agrees that whether a liability verdict contains damages that are covered or non-covered should, if not easily ascertainable under the facts or by way of stipulation, be determined in a subsequent declaratory judgment action between the insurer and the insured. However, in this matter, Liberty Mutual must operate under the assumption that the *Harleysville* decision will stand as drafted.

If the *Harleysville* opinion stands as drafted, Liberty Mutual respectfully proposes that the Court adopt the following framework for addressing this issue. First, the Court should find that if the underlying case lends itself to easy allocation between covered and non-covered damages, the trial court should consider whether to permit limited intervention. If the trial court permits limited intervention, the defendant/insured and the insurer should either stipulate to an allocation or work together to craft a special verdict form permitting the jury to answer questions regarding allocation, assuming no prejudice results to any party. However, this Court should find that if trial court denies intervention, or if the trial court declines to permit the submission of a special verdict form

addressing the insurer's and the insured's allocation issues, or if the insurer or insured show that either would be prejudiced by a limited intervention, due to, *inter alia*, restrictions on the ability to present evidence or arguments, then the insurer and insured may engage in subsequent litigation regarding allocation. Otherwise, in a general verdict setting, insurers will be improperly forced to pay damages not covered by their policies, resulting in a judicial expansion of the scope of coverage not contemplated by the insurer or insured at the time of contract.

An in depth look at the Supreme Court's decision in *Harleysville* is necessary to fully explain the quandary faced by Liberty Mutual in this matter. *Harleysville* was a declaratory judgment action brought by Harleysville Group Insurance to determine coverage under Commercial General Liability insurance policies issued by it after its insureds were found liable for damages in underlying liability matters. See Opinion No. 27698 at 23-24.

In *Harleysville*, the Special Referee's final orders held that "Harleysville made a conscious decision not to intervene in the underlying action[s] and took no action to seek an allocated verdict by informing the trial court of the need for an allocated verdict or by submitting special interrogatories for the Court's consideration for submission to the jury." (See *Harleysville Consolidated Record on Appeal* ("*Harleysville CR*") at 0037 & 0086.)⁴ The Special Referee then concluded that "Harleysville's failure to intervene or otherwise seek an allocated verdict cannot now be used to prejudice the rights of its insureds or the rights of the claimants who step into the shoes of the insureds." (*Harleysville CR* at 0058 & 0107.)

⁴ It is well established that a court may "take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records." *Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 494, 313 S.E.2d 325, 327 (Ct. App. 1984); see also *Wise v. Wise*, 394 S.C. 591, 601, 716 S.E.2d 117, 122 (Ct. App. 2011) (same).

Additionally, the Special Referee's orders found that Harleysville's request for the court to allocate between covered and non-covered damages in the declaratory action was an attempt to "relitigate" the issues decided in the underlying liability action. (*Harleysville* CR at 54-55, 59, 103-04, 108.) Therefore, the Special Referee refused to make an allocation of the general verdict between covered and non-covered damages, resulting in Harleysville's liability for the entire verdict.⁵ This was the case even though the Special Referee acknowledged that the verdict included damages not covered by the Harleysville policies. (*Harleysville* CR at 53, 102.)

These rulings were affirmed *in toto* by Opinion No. 27698. The Court in *Harleysville*, however, did not address the inherent problems created by the Special Referee's rulings on these issues. By affirming the Special Referee with regard the intervention/allocated verdict issue, without addressing how insurers could adequately protect their rights, Opinion No. 27698 created a state of uncertainty in this area of the law. It is unclear what an insurer must do in the underlying action in order to preserve allocation of damages issues; whether and how an insurer can arrange for special interrogatories or a special verdict in the underlying trial to resolve allocation issues; or whether any such actions are possible without creating an impermissible conflict between the insurer and the insured. As noted by former Chief Justice Pleicones in his dissent in *Harleysville*, "there is no suggestion how Harleysville could have intervened in these lawsuits and asserted a defense against coverage without creating an impermissible conflict of interest in violation of established South Carolina law." Opinion No. 27698 at 54 (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (citing *Sims v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 247 S.C. 82, 145 S.E.2d 523 (1965)). Further, Opinion No. 27698 does not answer what the insurer can do when a trial court denies the insurer's attempt to intervene.

⁵ The Special Referee did reduce the verdict to reflect Harleysville's "time-on-the-risk," but this did not change that Harleysville was liable for both covered and non-covered claims.

Harleysville, therefore, in its current form,⁶ led directly to the dilemma facing Liberty Mutual in this matter.

I. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY REFUSED TO PERMIT LIBERTY MUTUAL TO INTERVENE ON A LIMITED BASIS UNDER THE CURRENT VERSION OF THE *HARLEYSVILLE* OPINION.

The denial of Liberty Mutual’s motion to intervene, even after the filing of Opinion No. 27698, illustrates the predicament insurers now face when defending their insureds in construction defect liability cases. Here, Liberty Mutual attempted to do precisely what the *Harleysville* decision suggested that it should to preserve its right to an allocated verdict: intervene in this liability action in order to submit special interrogatories. The trial court denied Liberty Mutual’s motion, leaving it with seemingly no ability to obtain allocation between damages covered by its policies and those that are not covered.

A. Principles Governing Intervention under South Carolina Law.

Rule 24 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure governs intervention. The Supreme Court has interpreted this rule “to *permit liberal intervention* particularly where . . . judicial economy will be promoted by declaring the rights of all parties who may be affected.” *Berkeley Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 302 S.C. 186, 189, 394 S.E.2d 712, 714 (1990) (emphasis added). Accordingly, a court “should consider the practical implications of a decision denying or allowing intervention.” *Ex parte Gov’t Emp.’s Ins. Co.*, 373 S.C. 313, 138, 644 S.E.2d 699, 702 (2007). “However, a party must have standing to intervene in an action pursuant to Rule 24, SCRCP.” *Id.* “A party has standing if the party has a personal stake in the subject matter of a lawsuit and is a ‘real party in interest.’” *Id.* (quoting *Bailey v. Bailey*, 312 S.C. 454, 458, 441

⁶ Again, Liberty Mutual notes that rehearing is pending in *Harleysville* at the time of the filing of the initial brief.

S.E.2d 325, 327 (1994)). “A real party in interest . . . is one who has a real, actual, material or substantial interest in the subject matter of the action, as distinguished from one who has only a nominal, formal, or technical interest in, or connection with, the action.” *Id.* (quoting *Bailey*, 312 S.C. at 458, 441 S.E.2d at 327).

1. Intervention as a Matter of Right.

Pursuant to Rule 24(a) a party may intervene as of right: (1) when a statute confers an unconditional right to intervene; or (2) when the applicant claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action and he is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest, unless the applicant’s interest is adequately represented by existing parties. Rule 24(a), SCRCP.

As the Supreme Court has explained, a party seeking intervention under Rule 24(a)(2) must: (1) establish timely application; (2) assert an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action; (3) demonstrate that it is in a position such that without intervention, disposition of the action may impair or impede its ability to protect that interest; and (4) demonstrate that its interest is inadequately represented by other parties. *Berkeley Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 302 S.C. 186, 189, 394 S.E.2d 712, 714 (1990). Whether the proposed intervenor’s interest warrants intervention “must be determined in relation to the overall subject matter of the action and not in relation to the particular issue that is before the Court.” *Id.* at 190, 394 S.E.2d at 714. Additionally, the test “further requires that the prospective intervenor demonstrate that without its intervention, the disposition of the case may impair or impede its ability to protect its interest.” *Id.* at 190, 394 S.E.2d at 715. “To meet that requirement, a party need not prove that it would be bound in a res judicata sense by the judgment, only that it would have difficulty adequately protecting its interests if not allowed to intervene.” *Id.*

Finally, the burden for showing that the asserted interests will not be adequately represented by the existing parties, while on the applicant, is “minimal and the applicant need only show that the representation of his interests ‘may be’ inadequate.” *Id.* at 191, 394 S.E.2d at 715 (quoting *Trbovich v. United Mine Workers of Am.*, 404 U.S. 528 (1972)). Courts look to the following factors to determine whether existing representation is inadequate: “(1) whether the existing parties will undoubtedly make all of the intervenor’s arguments; (2) whether the existing parties are capable and willing to make such arguments; and (3) whether the intervenor offers different knowledge, experience, or perspective on the proceedings that would otherwise be absent.” *Id.*

2. Permissive Intervention.

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure also contemplate permissive intervention under certain circumstances. Under Rule 24(b), permissive intervention is appropriate: “(1) when a statute confers a conditional right to intervene; or (2) when an applicant’s claim or defense and the main action have a question of law or fact in common.” Rule 24(b), SCRCF. “To warrant intervention under Rule 24(b)[,] an applicant should ordinarily show he is charged with a public duty requiring him to intervene, or he has a claim or defense involving a question of law or fact in common with the main action.” *S.C. Tax Comm’n v. Union Cnty. Treasurer*, 295 S.C. 257, 262, 368 S.E.2d 72, 75 (Ct. App. 1988). “A mere general interest in the subject matter of the litigation is not sufficient.” *Id.*

B. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion by Denying Intervention under *Harleysville*.

Rule 24 permits “liberal intervention,” particularly where judicial economy will be promoted by allowing intervention. *See Berkeley Elec.*, 302 S.C. at 189, 394 S.E.2d at 714. In

this matter, judicial economy would be furthered, assuming the current form of *Harleysville* remains the same, by permitting Liberty Mutual to intervene.

Each of the four Rule 24(a)(2) factors are met. First, the motion to intervene was timely made. Liberty Mutual moved to intervene at the time contemplated by *Harleysville*. Liberty Mutual had no direct interest in the case, aside from providing counsel to represent its insured's interests pursuant to its duty to defend, until it was evident that the matter would proceed to trial. At that point, Liberty Mutual's interest in obtaining an allocated verdict arose, under *Harleysville* as it stands now, and it timely sought to intervene.

Next, Liberty Mutual has a clear interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action. To the extent the underlying verdict contained damages that were not property damages and to the extent such was not ascertainable under the evidence submitted in the underlying action, Liberty Mutual has an interest in obtaining an allocated verdict. Otherwise, Liberty Mutual could be potentially be required to pay non-covered damages, as was the case in *Harleysville*.

Third, Liberty Mutual is situated such that disposition of this action without addressing the allocation issue would impede or impair its ability to protect its interest. As previously noted, if allocation is not accomplished in the underlying proceedings, it is uncertain whether it can be done in a subsequent coverage action. *Harleysville* suggests that it cannot.

Finally, the current parties would not adequately protect Liberty Mutual's interests. The insured's unwillingness to protect Liberty Mutual's interests is clearly evidenced by the memorandum it filed opposing Liberty Mutual's motion to intervene. (*See Mem. in Opp'n to Mot. to Intervene*; R. pp. 96-98.) The plaintiff Waverly Association likewise has no motivation to assist the opposing party's insurer. At the hearing on Liberty Mutual's motion, counsel for the Waverly

Association and counsel for the Wieland Entities both argued that Liberty Mutual should not be permitted to intervene. (See Tr. at 12:6-16:8; R. pp. 46-50.) In light of this opposition to Liberty Mutual's motion, the existing parties will almost certainly not "make all of the intervenor's arguments," and are not "capable and willing to make sure arguments." See *Berkeley Elec.*, 302 S.C. at 189, 394 S.E.2d at 715. Liberty Mutual would offer a different knowledge, experience, and perspective on the proceedings that would otherwise be absent. See *id.*

Therefore, assuming the current form of *Harleysville* stands, the four factors for intervention as of right are met. Liberty Mutual should have been permitted to intervene as of right, or at minimum, the trial court should have allowed limited permissive intervention. The trial court thus abused its discretion by denying Liberty Mutual's motion. As stated herein, the remedy for this error should be the acknowledgement of Liberty Mutual's right to address these allocation issues in subsequent declaratory judgment litigation.

C. Analogous South Carolina Case Law Supports Intervention.

South Carolina courts have not directly addressed the situation presented in this action. However, two cases where the court permitted intervention are analogous and support intervention in this matter. First, *Berkeley Electric* involved a dispute between Berkeley Electric Cooperative and the Town of Mount Pleasant regarding the applicability of a franchise agreement between them to the extension of service to a newly annexed subdivision. 302 S.C. at 188, 394 S.E.2d at 713. South Carolina Electric and Gas ("SCE&G") moved to intervene, asserting it had a right to serve this area, but the trial court denied the motion. See *id.* at 189, 394 S.E.2d at 714. The Supreme Court reversed and found that SCE&G should have been allowed to intervene.

The *Berkeley Electric* court noted that SCE&G had a financial interest in the dispute, as an adverse ruling would destroy any investments SCE&G made under the belief it was the rightful

supplier. *Id.* at 190, 394 S.E.2d at 715. As the court explained, a party need only demonstrate that disposition of the case *may* impair or impede its ability to protect its interests, not that it would be bound in a res judicata sense. *Id.* The party must only show that “it would have difficulty adequately protecting its interests if not allowed to intervene.” *Id.* The court further stated that a declaration by the trial judge finding that Berkeley Electric could supply the new subdivision would, “as a practical matter, prevent SCE&G from serving customers that it believe[d] it was legally entitled to serve” and impair its ability to protect investments made. *Id.* at 191, 394 S.E.2d at 715. It would also be very difficult for SCE&G to collaterally attack an adverse ruling. *Id.* Finally, SCE&G’s interests would not have been adequately represented by the existing parties as its objectives conflicted with the objectives of both parties to the litigation. *Id.* Therefore, for all of these reasons, the court found that intervention should have been permitted.

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