THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-10-03326
Appellate Case No. 2017-000474

RECEIVED
JAN 09 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Ex Parte:

Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company, Appellant.

v.

In Re:

Waverly at Hamlin Plantation Townhome Association, Inc., Respondent,

v.

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT LIBERTY MUTUAL DID NOT MEET THE APPLICABLE TESTS FOR INTERVENTION.

The trial court properly determined that Liberty Mutual's motion does not fall within the ambit of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure, Rule 24 – Intervention. SCRCPP Rule 24(a) governs intervention as a matter of right, while Rule 24 (b) governs permissive intervention. Specifically, Rule 24 provides:

- (a) **Intervention of Right.** Upon timely application anyone shall be permitted to intervene in an action: (1) when a statute confers an unconditional right to intervene; or (2) when the applicant claims an interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action and he is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest, unless the applicant's interest is adequately represented by existing parties.
- (b) **Permissive Intervention.** Upon timely application anyone may be permitted to intervene in an action: (1) when a statute confers a conditional right to intervene; or (2) when an applicant's claim or defense and the main action have a question of law or fact in common. When a party to an action relies for ground of claim or defense upon any statute or executive order administered by a federal or state governmental officer or agency or upon any regulation, order, requirement or agreement issued or made pursuant to the statute or executive order, the officer or agency upon timely application may be permitted to intervene in the action. In exercising its discretion the court shall consider whether the intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the rights of the original parties.

The Trial Court properly noted that Liberty Mutual did not meet the requirement for Rule 24

(a) because it did not claim a statutory right to intervene, conditional or otherwise. (Order; R. pp. 2-3.) Further, Liberty Mutual did not claim an interest in the subject matter of the dispute between the Plaintiff and the Wieland Defendants. The purpose of Liberty's intervention request was to submit special interrogatories to the jury pertaining to the issue of insurance coverage. (Motion; R. p. 59-62; Order; R. p. 3.)

Further, the trial court aptly noted that Rule 24 does not contemplate or permit the *limited* intervention sought by Liberty Mutual. (Order; R. p. 3.) The rule cited in Liberty's motion speaks only of intervention. Liberty Mutual did not seek to participate in the trial as a party. (See Transcript; R. p. 47, line 18 to p. 48, line 13; and p. 50, lines 9-11). Therefore, the trial court properly determined that the relief request by Liberty is not available under SCRCF Rule 24.

Further, even if SCRCF Rule 24 were to be interpreted so as to encompass the limited intervention sought in Liberty Mutual's Motion to Intervene, Liberty Mutual's motion fails to meet the requirements set forth under Rule 24(a). Namely, Liberty Mutual's Motion to Intervene was untimely.

In *Davis v. Jennings*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted that a court must consider the following factors in determining whether a motion to intervene is timely: 1) the time that has passed since the applicant knew or should have known of his or her interest in the suit; 2) the reason for the delay; 3) the stage to which the litigation has progressed; and 4) the prejudice the original parties would suffer from granting intervention and the applicant would suffer from denying intervention. 304 S.C. 502, 504, 405 S.E.2d 601, 603 (S.C. 1991), see also *Ex Parte Reichlyn*, 310 S.C. 495, 427 S.E.2d 661 (S.C. 1992).

Liberty Mutual's Motion to intervene is untimely because it waited over three (3) years after the action was filed, on the eve of trial, to file its motion. (Motion, R. p. 58; see also Transcript; R. p.

48, line 19 to p. 49, line 9.) The Court properly considered the untimeliness of Liberty Mutual's Motion and the prejudice it would cause the parties, noting, "So why then would you be allowed to intervene and sort of interject yourself at the last moment in this litigation and possibly prejudicially to these parties then change the entire way they have determined strategically they are going to address this case...." (Transcript; R. p. 38, Lines 14-20.) Liberty Mutual's counsel notably answered, "Your Honor, we don't disagree with any of those statements." (*id.*, Lines 21-22; R. p. 38.)

Liberty Mutual's motion to intervene attempted to justify its request by stating that (1) it is seeking to comply with "directives of the recent *Heritage* opinion," referencing a then-recent January 11, 2017 opinion issued by the South Carolina Supreme Court, Opinion No. 296983; and that (2) it is only seeking intervention for the purpose of obtaining special interrogatories or a special verdict form. (Motion; R. p. 61; Order; R. p. 3.) Referring to *Heritage*, the Court noted, "[D]oes it really stand for the proposition that you are arguing that it stands for? Because I think that's a real strained reading of those three lines in that opinion." (Transcript at 5, Lines 2-5; R. p. 39.) Again, Liberty Mutual's counsel responded by stating, "And, your Honor, again, we don't necessarily disagree with the courts comments...." (*id.*, Line 6-8; R. p. 39.)

The trial court properly determined that the *Heritage* majority opinion cannot fairly be read to direct or approve Liberty Mutual's last minute motion to intervene for the purpose of seeking jury interrogatories and a special verdict form, which neither the insured nor its counsel has requested. (Order; R. pp. 3-5). As stated in *Heritage*, the insurance company "cannot overcome the law in South Carolina concerning general verdicts." (Order; R. pp. 3-5.) This statement reflects the recognition that in South Carolina an insurer is responsible for the entire general verdict where at least one of several claims are covered. (Order; R. pp. 3-5.) However, the trial court properly noted

that the *Heritage* case does not authorize or direct an insurer like Liberty Mutual to intervene in a case under circumstances that exist here for several reasons. (Order; R. p. 4-6)

First, as noted in the dissent in *Heritage*, insurance companies intervening in these lawsuits and asserting a defense against coverage would seem to create an impermissible conflict of interest in violation of established South Carolina law. (Order; R. p. 4.) The trial court properly assessed the prejudice to the Wieland Defendants if Liberty Mutual were permitted to intervene in the action, noting as follows:

Asking the Wieland Defendants to defend themselves against the Plaintiffs' claims and the efforts of their own insurance carrier simultaneously would be unfair. Counsel for the Defendants has spent considerable effort during discovery and trial preparation to formulate a defense strategy. Undoubtedly, that strategy would be disrupted if Liberty was permitted to intervene at this stage, probably to the detriment of Liberty's insured. Conversely, I find no prejudice to Liberty Mutual in denying its Motion since (1) the issues it raises are not ripe until a verdict is reached, and (2) it is not precluded from bringing a declaratory judgment action after the verdict for the purpose of obtaining a ruling that apportions damages, if any, found in this case. (Order; R. p. 4.)

Next, the trial court properly considered that the risk of jury confusion in allowing Liberty Mutual to intervene would be unacceptably high. The court properly noted the procedural issues that would arise in allowing Liberty Mutual to intervene, noting:

During oral argument counsel for Liberty expressed his intention to submit special interrogatories for the jury to answer presumably pertaining to the allocation of any liability among covered and uncovered claims. Less clear is how evidence would be introduced during the trial which would allow the jury to decide the special interrogatories. It is safe to assume that Plaintiffs' counsel would have no interest in submitting such evidence and trial counsel for the Wieland Defendants would be ethically constrained from introducing such evidence or examining witnesses about the differences between covered and uncovered claims. That leaves Mr. Calamari as the only attorney with the interest and ability to introduce that evidence; however, Mr. Calamari does not represent a party in the case and so he would have no right under the Rules of Civil Procedure or the Rules of Evidence to examine witnesses or introduce evidence. (Order; R. pp. 4-5.)

In determining that Liberty Mutual should not be permitted to intervene, the trial court used

its discretion, to determine that permitting Liberty Mutual's intervention on the eve of trial "would only complicate and delay the underlying action, confuse the jury, and introduce a question of insurance coverage that is simply not the subject matter of this action." (Order; R. p. 5.)

As the Supreme Court of South Carolina aptly held in *Ex Parte Gov't Employee's Ins. Co.*:

The decision to grant or deny a motion to [...] intervene in an action pursuant to Rule 24, SCRCP, lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. See *Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 302 S.C. 186, 189, 394 S.E.2d 712, 714 (1990); and *Hunnicut v. Rickenbacker*, 268 S.C. 511, 517, 234 S.E.2d 887, 890 (1977). "This Court will not disturb the lower court's decision on appeal unless a manifest abuse of discretion is found resulting in an error of law. Moreover, the error of law must be so opposed to the lower court's sound discretion as to amount to a deprivation of the legal rights of the party." *Jeter v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 369 S.C. 433, 633 S.E.2d 143, 146 (2006).

Ex Parte Gov't Employee's Ins. Co., 373 S.C. 132, 135, 644 S.E.2d 699, 701 (2007)

Here, the trial court exercised its sound discretion, noting that Liberty Mutual "is not precluded from bringing a declaratory judgment after the verdict for the purpose of obtaining a ruling that apportions damages...." (Order; R. p. 4). Curiously, despite the clear and unambiguous order of the trial court, Liberty Mutual has yet to bring a declaratory judgment action, but instead chose to prematurely and unnecessarily file this appeal, noting "the remedy for this error [denial of intervention] should be acknowledgement of Liberty Mutual's right to address these allocation issues in subsequent declaratory judgment litigation." (Final Brief of Appellant; p. 12.)

II. LIBERTY MUTUAL'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY EXISTS AND LIBERTY MUTUAL SEEKS A REMEDY ALREADY AFFORDED TO IT BY THE TRIAL COURT.

SCACR, Rule 220(a) states that the appellate court may "affirm, reverse, or modify the decision below or remand all or any issues for further proceedings." The Court may also dismiss the appeal. See *Scelba v. Scelba*, 342 S.C. 223, 535 S.E.2d 668 (Ct. App. 2000). A justiciable controversy is a concrete and substantial controversy and not merely a dispute of a contingent,

hypothetical, or abstract character. *West v. West*, 263 S.C. 146, 208 S.E.2d 530 (1974) citing *South Carolina Elec. & Gas Co. v. South Carolina Public Service Authority*, 215 S.C. 193, 54 S.E.2d 777 (1949); *Power v. Mcnair*, 255 S.C. 150, 177 S.E.2d 551 (1970); *Dantzler v. Callison*, 227 S.C. 317, 88 S.E.2d 64 (1955). While liberally construed, even the Declaratory Judgment Act does not require the courts to give a purely advisory opinions as to the issues sought to be raised. *City of Columbia v. Sanders*, 231 S.C. 61, 97 S.E.2d 210 (1957). “[A]n issue that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract is not ripe for judicial review.” *Colleton County Taxpayers Ass’n v. Sch. Dist. Of Colleton County*, 371 S.C. 224, 242, 638 S.E.2d 685, 694 (2006).

Liberty states that it comes “to this Court requesting review and reversal of the trial court order, and clarity on how it may protect its right to ensure that it is not forced to pay damages covered by the applicable policies.” (Final Brief of Appellant; 5.) However, when one looks closer to Liberty’s brief, it suggests this court “adopt” a new “framework” for addressing how insurance companies obtain findings of allocation of covered and noncovered construction damages. It then proposes a substantive framework (based on Ohio law) for an insurance carrier in this circumstance. (Final Brief of Appellant; p. 5.) This appeal seeks the equivalent of a claim for Declaratory Judgment, or would result in an advisory opinion. This court should decline to exercise jurisdiction in this case for that purpose as Liberty Mutual has yet to bring a Declaratory Judgment Action following the verdict in this case. The issue is not ripe because Liberty Mutual has not filed a declaratory judgment. There is no underlying Order precluding Liberty Mutual from pursuing a Declaratory Judgment.

Liberty Mutual admits that it is not seeking to reverse the jury verdict, nor to remand the case for a new trial. It claims it seeks only reversal of the order denying it a right to intervene. Such relief, however, would have no impact on the parties or merits of this case, and would serve only